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sections begin with large letters placed at the
side of the column. The vellum on which it
is written is in general well preserved, though
in many places holes are seen in the leaves.
The whole is bound in four volumes, three
containing the Old Testament according to
the Septuagint, with the Apocrypha, the
fourth containing the New Testament, to
which is appended the genuine letter of
Clement of Rome to the Corinthians, with a
fragment of a second, spurious letter. The
Old Testament is defective in a portion of
the Psalms, while in the New, a part of Mat-
thew is wanting, with a few chapters in John
and II. Corinthians. To the spurious Iipis-
tle at the end we owe the preservation of the
Book of Revelation entire, as it has received
the wear and tear of the ages, losing a por-
tion of its contents, while the book within has
been shielded from harm.

Some assign its date to the fourth century,
according to the claim of the tradition, but
more attribute it to the fifth ; while there is
no doubt that Egypt was the place of its pro-
duction.

2. THE CODEX VATICANUS, OR VATICAN
MANUSCRIPT,

marked “B” in the catalogues. This is per-
haps a hundred years older than the Alexan-
drine manuscript, and belongs unmistakably
to the fourth century. Some Dbelieve it to
have been in existence as carly as the coun-
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cil of Nice. If so, it may have furnished the
model after which Constantine formed the
plan for his fifty copies.

“The whole text is bound in one volume
in red morocco, a quarto, measuring ten and
a half inches in length, ten inches in breadth,
and between four and five inches in thickness.
There are 759 very thin and delicate leaves
of vellum, of which 146 belong to the New-
Testament. The text is uncial, written in
three narrow columns on a page, and the
characters are clear, simple, and beautiful,
little smaller than those of the Codex Alex-
andrinus, and a little larger than those of the
manuscript of Philodemus, a treatise on mu-
sic, which was the first of the Herculaneum
rolls successfully opened and given to the
public. In fact the Vatican manuscript is
the most similar to these rolls of Hercula-
neum of all of the copies of the Scriptures
thus far discovered. There are no divisions
between the words, but where a change from
one subject to another occurs there is some-
times a space of an entire letter, sometimes
of only half a letter, to mark the transition.
In the original writing the initial letters were
of the same size as all the others, but a later
hand has written larger initials over the old
and simple characters. No punctuation ap-
pears except such as has been interpolated by
later scribes, and this is rare, only four points
being inserted in the first six chapters of the
Gospel of Matthew. As it stands at present
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the text is provided with accents and marks of
aspiration, which were at one time considered
the work of the original writer ;’* but which
are now known to be executed in a different
ink and by a more modern hand. Great
lapse of time faded the ancient ink, and at
some early date the letters were retouched
by a careful hand throughout large portions
of the text.

Originally the work contained the whole
Bible, including the Apocrypha, and also the
Epistle of Clement of Rome to the Corin-
thians. At present the Old Testament wants
the greater part of Genesis and a part of the
Psalms. In the New Testament the Ipistle
to Philemon, those to Timothy and Titus,
the latter part of Hebrews, and the DBook of
Revelation, are gone. On account of its ac-
knowledged antiquity the critical authority
of this manuscript is of the foremost rank.

3. THE CODEX SINAITICUS, OR SINAI MANUSCRIPT.

This has been designated by Tischendorf,
its discoverer, by aleph, the first letter of the
Hebrew alphabet.  One of the most interest-
ing events in biblical science, of the present
century, is the unexpected discovery of this
valuable manuscript. On a visit to the con-
vent of St. Catharine at Mount Sinai in 1844,
Tischendorf found forty-three leaves of a
beautiful parchment copy of the Septuagint,
not before known to Iuropean scholars.

* Rev. G. E. Merrill, “Story of the Manuscripts.”
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These he carried home with him on his re-
turn to Germany. In 1859 he made another
visit to this convent, when it was his high
privilege, after encountering delays and per-
plexities, to bring to light the remainder of
this important work ; adding now over three
hundred leaves more, containing the New
Testament entire, part of the Old, the so
called Epistle of Barnabas, and a part of the
writing called the Shepherd of Hermas.
Tischendorf induced the monks to part
with this manuscript as a loan to the Emper-
or of Russia, and it is now in the keeping of
the Government at St. Petersburg. It is not
a little singular that two stray leaves of this
manuscript and half a leaf, widely separated
from them, have been discovered and added
to the original. It now comnsists of three:
hundred and forty-seven and a half leaves,
thirteen and a half inches wide by nearly fif-
teen inches long. (We believe these do not
include the forty-three leaves of the Old Tes-
tament first found, and taken by Tischendorf
to Leipsic.) Itiswritten on a very fine parch-
ment, which Tischendorf thinks is composed of
the skins of young antelopes, the prose parts
four columns on a page, the poetical portions
having but two columns to the page. The
letters are uncial, large and plain. As it pro-
ceeded from the hand of the original copyist
it had neither ornamented capitals, accents,
nor divisions of words or sentences. But, as
is common with ancient manuscripts, it has
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received revisions and so-called corrections
from later pens. Tischendorf belicves that
he has detected the corrections of at least ten
different revisers, extending over a period
ending in the twelfth century. It bears the
marks of very high antiquity, belonging prob-
ably to the fourth century, though some are
disposed to place it in the ecarly part of the
fifth.

Through the munificence of the Czar, the
illustrious discoverer has been enabled to
prepare and issue at Leipsic a fac-simile
edition of this noble manuscript, and to pre-
sent copies of it to many of the leading libra-
ries and institutions of the Christian world.
It was completed in 1862, in four folio vol-
umes, and several libraries in our own coun-
try have been fortunate enough to obtain a
set.

4. THE CODEX EPHRAEMI, OR EPHRAEM
MANUSCRIPT,

marked in the catalogues as Codex “C,” and
preserved in the National Library at Paris.
This is a palimpsest.  Which means that it
once had another writing written over it. Its
history is this. The original manuscript is
believed to belong to the first half of the fifth
century. By the thirteenth century the ink
had faded and the writing had become so
pale and hard to read that it was thought to
have become useless as a copy of the Scrip-
tures. The vellum leaves therefore were
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taken for another purpose, and had inscribed
on them sermons and other writings of Eph-
raem, commonly called ‘the Syrian saint,”
an eminent father and theologian of the old
Syrian Church, who flourished in the fourth
century. The leaves were put into the new
volume without any reference to the order
of their former arrangement, being selected
by hap-hazard, and some being turned up-
side down, others front side behind. So that
when their true character was discovered it
was exceedingly difficult to bring them back
to their proper order.

In 1535, Lascaris, a noted scholar, died at
Rome, having devoted many years to the
collection of valuable manuscripts in the east.
Among his treasures was this Ephraem man-
uscript. At Lascar’s death it passed to Car-
dinal Ridolfi, of Florence, and. subsequently
came into possession of the Medicis. Cath-
erine de Medici, when she left Italy, becom-
ing queen of Henry II. of France, carried
these sermons of Ephraem with her for her
own reading. From her hands probably it
came into the library where it now remains.

In the latter part of the seventeenth cen-
tury, Peter Allix, a careful reader, discerned
traces of another text beneath that of Ephra-
em. A close examination revealed the fact
that there was a separate text underneath,
and that it was a copy of the sacred Scrip-
ture. The discovery at once excited the at-
tention of scholars. The original text was so
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faint and so much obscured by the later writ-
ing that it was a very perplexing task to de-
cipher it. Repeated attempts had Dbeen
made, with only partial success, when in
1834 a chemical solution being applied to
about a hundred leaves, a still further success
was achieved, many more of the letters ap-
pearing with greater distinctness. In the
year 1840 Tischendorf undertook the task of
deciphering it and in a few years succeeded in
bringing out an edition, following the manu-
script page for page and line for line. This
great scholar was able even to note the work
of revisers of the manuscript, declaring that
no less than four hands had been at work on
the ancient text.

The volume as now preserved contains two
hundred and nine leaves, one hundred and
forty-five of which belong to the New Testa-
ment. Nearly two thirds of the New Testa-
ment are present, while of course the larger
part of the Old Testament is missing. 'The
text instead of being in several columns, 1s
in one broad one, more like our modern
pages. The order of the Dooks i3 the same
as in the Codex Alexandrinus. The work is
written on thin vellum, with great accuracy
in almost all its parts. Its very great anti-
quity places it in the front rank of critical
value and authority.

To illustrate to the modern reader the
manner in which these ancient uncial manu-
scripts are written, all in capital letters with-
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out spaces between the words or marks of
punctuation, we give below a short specimen.
The passage constitutes the fourth and fifth
verses of the last chapter of Mark, and is
found in both the Vatican and Sinaitic manu-
scripts.  Only, the order of the English words
is here substituted for that of the Greek.

ANDWHENTHEYLOOKEDTHEYS
AWTHATTHESTONEWASROLLE
DAWAYFORITWASVERYGREAT
ANDENTERINGINTOTHESEPU
LCHRETHEYSAWAYOUNGMANS
ITTINGONTHERIGHTSIDECL
OTHEDINALONGWHITEGARME
NTANDTHEYWEREAFRAI

D

The manner in which these four great
uncials, and most valuable of all the manu-
scripts, are, under Divine Providence, dis-
tributed geographically, is worthy of note
and consideration. They are lodged in four
great capitals of Europe; while these may
justly be taken as seats of four distinct ec-
clesiastical influences, and therefore as repre-
senting the four great sections of Christendom.
Rome is the centre of Ultra-Montanism and
papal power ; Paris, the head of the Gallican
or low-Church Catholic party, which has
stood out in opposition to the supremacy
of the pope in temporal matters; St. Peters-
burg is the metropolis of the Greek Church ;
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while London stands as the head-quarters of
Protestantism.

5. OTHER ANCIENT MANUSCRIPTS.

In addition to these four principal ones,
there are a number of important and interest-
ing fragments or portions of ancient manu-
scripts, dating from the fourth to the seventh
century ; some thirty or more, preserved in
the various repositories of ISurope.

One of great critical value is the Codex
Dublinensis rescriptus, ov Dublimpsest, des-
ignated Dby the letter “Z,” and deposited in
the library of Trinity College, Dublin. Along
with other small portions of the Bible it con-
tains thirty-two leaves of the Gospel of Mat-
thew. A chemical process has been employed
to improve the legibility of the manuscript,
and after some previous attempts, Tregelles in
1853 brought out an edition of all that
can be deciphered. It Dbelongs to the sixth
century, and is written in a singularly bold,
symmetrical, and elegant style.

The Codex Cantabrigicnsis, or Cambridge
manuscript, so called because lodged in the
library of that Ifnglish university, is Detter
known as the Besa manuscript, and is desig-
nated by the letter “D.” It is in two lan-
guages, containing the four Gospels and Acts
of the Apostles in Greek and Latin on opposite
pages. According to the account given by
the great scholar, Theodore Beza, it was
found by him during the I'rench civil wars
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in 1562, in the monastery of St. Ireneeus, at
Lyons. In 1581 Beza sent it as a present to
the University of Cambridge. It has pecu-
lar readings in some places, but which are
not reputed to be very ancient. It was un-
doubtedly executed somewhere in France,
but its age has not been determined.

Among the remains of high antiquity are
the fragments of the Codex Purpureus, or
purple manuscript, designated by the letter
“N.” This famous book was in four parts,
written on fine thin vellum of a rich purple
color, in silver letters, with the words God,
Jesus, Saviour, Son, Christ, and other names
of the Deity, in gold. Thus presenting a very
beautiful appearance. Double columns stand
upon the page. It was probably made in the
sixth century. But the book has had a re-
markable history. It has been taken to
picces, its various portions being scattered
widely apart. TFour of its leaves are among
the Cottonin manuscripts preserved in the
DBritish Museum, six are in the Vatican, and
two in the Imperial Library at Vienna. For
a long period it was supposed that these were
the only remnants left. But a recent discov-
ery made in the monastery of St. John, in the
Isle of Patmos, has brought to light thirty-
three similar leaves, which have since been
identified as belonging to this ancient book.
The locality in which they were found serves
to invest them with peculiar interest. We
now possess forty-five leaves. Their great
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age has told upon them. The original rich-
ness of the purple has largely faded away, the
silver letters have mostly turned black, but
the Divine names in gold still stand out with
lustre on the page.

Perhaps the latest discovery is that of the
Codex Rossancnsis brought to light in 1879 in
the IEpiscopal Palace in the little town of Ros-
sano, on the Gulf of Taranto, in South Italy.
It is a thick quarto volume bound in leather,
containing the Gospels of Matthew and Mark,
very nearly complete, lacking only a few
verses at the end. It is a splendid purple
manuscript, with double columns of silver
text on each page. It has one hundred and
eighty-eight of these beautiful vellum leaves,
which have been somewhat injured by bind-
ing. 'The letters are uncial, and very similar
to those of Codex “N,” the purple manu-
script just described above. The double
columns each contain twenty lines, having
only from nine to twelve letters on a line.
The words are not separated, nor are there ac-
cents, or breathings, or punctuation, except an
occasional point. It is believed to belong to
the sixth century; and is in the keeping of
the local Archbishop in whose possession it
was found.

A notice of all the interesting ancient frag-
ments would require far more space then we
are able to devote to this department. And
therefore we will close with the mention only
of one or two others.
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In the Royal Library at Stockholm in Swe-
den there is a very curious old manuscript,
known as “ Gigas Librorum,” the “ Giant of
Books.” It gets its name from its immense
size. The length of its leaves is thirty-
five inches, their breadth eighteen ; and when
opened it covers a square yard of surface. It
has three hundred and nine leaves of very
thick and heavy parchment, peculiarly pre-
pared ; made, it is believed, of asses’ skins,
and requires two or three men to carry it.
It is written in Latin, and contains, besides
the whole of the Old and New Testaments,
the “Antiquities” and “Jewish Wars” of
Josephus, with several other works in esteem
among the early Christians. Some place it
in the ninth century, others in the twelfth.
Some suppose it to have been a long time in
transcription. It is possible therefore that it
may have been commenced in the ninth cen-
tury and some of the appended books added
as late as 1239.

As far back as its history can be traced, it
belonged to a small Benedictine Monastery
at Podlazic, in Bohemia. Thence it passed
to Braunau. In 1648, the last year of the
“Thirty Years’” War,” it was found by Gus-
tavus Adolphus and his Swedes among the
treasures at the capture of Prague, and was
carried by them to Stockholm, where it now
rests. '

There is also in this same library at Stock-
holm another rare and valuable Biblical man-



234 BIBLE MANUAL.

uscript, known as the “ Codex Aureus,” or
golden manuscript. It contains a Latin
translation of the four Gospels, made very
early and written, in part, at least, in letters
of gold on purple-colored vellum. It has
attracted much attention from scholars, and
an elaborate edition of the text has been
issued by Mr. Belsheim. Many of its read-
ings are like the “Vetus Itala,” the ancient
Italian Version already described. It is com-
monly believed to belong to the sixth century.
It consists of one hundred and ninty-five
leaves, fully written in double columns, aver-
aging twenty-six lines to the column. A few
of the leaves are yellow, on which the writ-
ing is black; and on some of the purple
pages silver letters have been used instead of
gold.

In concluding thus our brief survey of the
most ancient DBiblical manuscripts, several
important reflections forcibly suggest them-
selves. In this history we Dehold the minute
watchful care of the Divine Providence over
the contents of His own Word. With what
love for their possession and preservation
were the hearts of Christian men inspired
through all those times! What cxpedients
were employed to obtain suitable and dur-
able material on which to inscribe them!
While the prolonged labor, the unwearied
care, faithful application, and patient industry
bestowed upon their production, must forever
command our sincere admiration and grateful
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praise. The dangers often incurred and the
bitter persecutions sometimes undergone on
account of possessing these Scriptures, come
also into view, increasing our sympathy for
the sufferers and our esteem for their resolute
Christian courage.

And then, the Providence over those rolls
and codices when once produced! Kept
from destruction through a long series of
barbaric ages ; at length brought to light, in
the dawn of this New Christian Age, out of
the recesses in which they had been hidden
for so many centuries, and restored to use-
fulness ; sometimes their scattered leaves
brought together from the four winds. These
are a few of the many footsteps of our Lord
in this, His second coming, which advent, as
we know, is effected in and through His own
Holy Word, by a revelation of its interior or
true Christian meaning.

In the ninth century a new style of manu-
scripts began to be introduced, denominated
Cursives. This term 1s apphed simply to
the manner of writing. Instead of having all
capitals, and letters the size of an inch, as
did the Uncials, these newer manuscripts
have small letters, except at the headings,
which are joined together by the pen, much
as in our present style of writing. This
method was adopted on account of the
greater facility and rapidity with which it
can be executed.

By the tenth century the cursive style had
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very generally superceded the uncial in the
preparation of copies of the sacred Scripture.
This practice continued down to the inven-
tion of printing in the fifteenth century.
Consequently the Cursives that have Dbeen
preserved are far more numerous than the
Uncials.  And although they are of more
modern date, yet are they very valuable testi-
monials to the accuracy of the text of Holy
Scripture. It must be remembered that they
are copies of ancient Uncials that have dis-
appeared ; and thercfore present to us a
transcript of the ancient texts. They arc in
agreement, too, with the Uncials we possess,
and so contribute much additional corrohora-
tive testimony to their faithfulness and purity.

As is well known, they do not all read exact-
ly alike. We find repeated variations ; while
In many copies slight inaccuracies of the
copyist have creptin. Much has been said
about these things of late years, and in some
quarters these variations and inaccuracies
have been greatly exaggerated and over-rated.
For the most part these differences are very
slight, consisting sometimes in the waldition
or omission of a single letter ; in others, in a
simple re-arrangement or transposition of the
words.  Very scldom is there any important
change in a passage ; and it is believed that
In no case is any important Christian doctrine
or principle involved.

The number of Cursives is so great that
they serve to correct cach other’s mistakes.
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Where one presents a peculiar reading in a
certain place, there will be fifty others per-
haps which preserve the true reading, all in
agreement with each other. So that it is
comparatively easy to correct these numer-
ous individual blunders, and bring forth out
of the whole a continuous and complete
Word of the Lord. And it is with good rea-
son firmly believed that our present Bible is
such a copy. There are at least fifteen hun-
dred manuscripts containing the whole or
important portions of the Scripture. These
have come from all parts of the older Chris-
tendom, have emanated from all the different
sections of the early Church, and all bring to
us in reality the very same Scripture from
end to end. Considering the various sources
from which they come, and the widely differ-
ent channels through which they have reached
us, their agreement may be said to be truly
wonderful. And as the last forty or fifty
years have been so rich in the discovery of
valuable memorials supposed to be lost, may
we not only hope, but firmly believe, that
Divine Providence has mcre of such con-
cealed things in store, and that in due time
still other most valuable discoveries will be
made.



